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Historical Significance

A State Commission was appointed to explore foundry roads and rivers. The last 50 miles
of the Susquehanna River to the bay was too rocky. It required 30-40 men pulling the
boats. In 1792, a contract was made between the State and the Conewago Canal
Company to build a canal. The locks were opened in 1797 by the Governor. This being the
first canal to open in PA, it was the catalyst and model for hundreds of miles of canals
which created tremendous economic growth locally and for the early State. One of the
most notable events in the early history of internal improvements in PA was the opening of
canals which inaugurated a great system of artificial navigation. The earliest canal was
around Conewago Falls, on the west side of the Susquehanna River.

Expanded Significance

A PA Commission was appointed to view and explore foundry roads and waters. They
were to review the Susquehanna River. Their report was given to the Governor and
Legislatures in 1791. In 1792, a contract was made between the State and the Conewago
Canal Company, PA investors led by Robert Morris, to build the canal. James Brindley was
the engineer.

The last 50 miles of the Susquehanna to Chesapeake Bay was too fast, shallow, and
rocky. It required 30-40 men most of the day, with the process required jumping from rock
to rock, pulling the boats. Until the completion of the Canal, most boats stopped at
Middletown, unloading cargoes for shipment to Philadelphia over 100 miles of poor roads.
With this faster efficient travel, shipping barrels of flour was less expensive than shipping
unmill loads of wheat. The first boat through the canal reached Baltimore docks for export
in record time. This created a boom in industrial and agricultural growth not only locally but
also for western and northern Pa.

The Conewago locks were opened in 1797 with the review by Governor Mifflin. The year
the Canal totally stopped being used is not recorded. There are Canal accounting books
up to 1815. Phineas Davis’s Codorus steamboat was wintered at the canal, in 1826. It is
shown on an 1827 PA Archive map. Joshua Scott map of Lancaster County of 1858 shows
the layout of the canal. Vessels "in the shape of an ark" were beginning to successfully
pass over the Conewago Falls even before the canal was open. The Hopkin’s Canal was
built on the shore opposite in 1819. By 1850, steam engine locomotives with sufficient
power to move freight began displacing canals as the preferred method of transportation.
In 1885, the York Haven Paper Company use the canal headrace for its water turbines with
the 1901 York Haven Hydropower (one of the oldest still operating plant) to produce
electricity power to industries in PA.

This being the first canal to open in PA, it was the catalyst and model for hundreds of miles
of canals which caused tremendous economic growth for the early State.



“And whereas a contract and articles of agreement were made and entered into on the
third day of July, in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred and ninety-two,
between Thomas Mifflin, Governor of the commonwealth of Pennsylvania, on behalf of the
state, of the one part, and Robert Morris, William Smith, Walter Stewart, Samuel Meredith,
John , Francis, John Nicholson, John Donaldson, Samuel Miles, Timothy Matlack, David
Rittenhouse, Samuel Powel, Alexander James Dallas, William Bingham, Henry Miller,
Abraham and Robert Harris, all of the state of Pennsylvania, of the other part, as a
company, by the name of The Conewago company, for opening and improving that part of
the river Susquehanna, from Wright's ferry to the mouth of Swatara creek, inclusive,
agreeably to the true intent, meaning and design of the Legislature, whereby the said
Robert Morris and others, as a company, and each of them, did agree, undertake, and
contract, to and with the said Thomas Mifflin, and his successors, Governors of the said
commonwealth, that they, the said company, will well and truly open and improve the
navigation of the said river Susquehanna, between Wright's ferry and the mouth of
Swatara aforesaid, agreeably to the true intention of the Legislature, in the manner set
forth in the said contract, reference being thereto had at large; and, particularly, that at the
Conewago falls they will cut, establish and a canal, of a sufficient and convenient width,
not less than forty feet, of a length sufficient to pass and extend beyond all obstructions
created in the navigation of the said river by means of the said Conewago Falls and of a
depth sufficient at all times to contain and convey, through the whole distance of the said
canal, a body of water, at least four feet deep; and that they will also erect and maintain on
the said canal a sufficient number of safe and commodious locks, not less than two, for the
benefit of navigation; and that the said canal and locks, and the works thereunto
belonging, shall be forever kept and maintained in good and perfect order and repair, by
them, they said contractors, their heirs, executors, administrators, and assigns, at the
proper cost of them, and every of them, and opened as a public highway and for public use
forever, so that all persons whosoever, with boats, rafts, and other suitable vessels, and
their freights, may thenceforth, at all seasons when the navigation of the said river
Susquehanna is not rendered impracticable by ice, pass and repass in the said canal, and
use and enjoy the benefit of the said locks, free of toll, and any and every other charge
whatsoever, a freely as if the said canal and locks, were made and established by the
public and duly declared by law to be a public highway.”

GERARDUS WYNKOOP, Speaker of the House of Representatives.

SAMUEL POWEL, Speaker of the Senate.

THOMAS MIFFLIN, Governor of the commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

Approved, April the tenth, 1793.

[2], xvi, 80 p., [1] folded leaf of plates : 1 col. map ; 21 cm. (4to)ePhiladelphia: :ePrinted by
Zachariah Poulson, Junior, number eighty, Chestnut-Street.,eMDCCXCV. [1795]
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“They will cut, establish and maintain a canal, of a sufficient and convenient width, not less
than forty feet, of a length sufficient to pass and extend beyond all obstructions created in
the navigation of the said river by means of the said Conewago falls, and of a depth
sufficient; at all times to contain and convey, through the whole distance of the said canal,
a body of water, at lead four feet deep; and that they will also erect and maintain on the
said canal a sufficient number of safe and commodious locks, not less than two, for the
benefit of navigation; and that the said canal and locks, and the works thereunto
belonging, Shall be forever kept and maintained in good and prefect order and repair, by
them, the contractors.” Page 3,4 The Act for Incorporating the Company

“In the year 1789, among the Commissioners appointed to view and explore foundry roads
and waters in different parts of the state; Samuel Boyd, Bartram Galbraith and Thomas
Ruling, were commissioned by the President and supreme executive Council to view and
explore the Susquehanna and Juniata rivers, and ascertain the expenses, in their opinion,
necessary for removing the different obstructions in said rivers; and made their Report as
follows, so far as respects that part of Susquehanna (including the Conewago Falls) from
the mouth of Swatara to Wright's ferry.” Page 1 Account of

“This report being communicated by the Governor to the Legislature, an appropriation was
made, April 13th,1791. For Susquehanna from Wright's ferry to the mouth of Swatara
creek inclusive, falling of the estimate, and no provision was made for the purchase of the
ground, (about a mile in length) necessary for the Canal. This expenses it seems had
escaped the notice of the Commissioners as well as the Legislature, in their eliminate, on
the plan of a Canal to be dug along shore, clear of the bed of the river; for in that case
considerable trespass must in foundry places be made upon the adjacent ground, dividing
the 19 Feet Fall equally through the whole length : Or probably it was considered as a
matter of course, that the Legislature would provide the means for obtaining the ground,
either by contact with the owners, or by condemning the fame by a jury, according to law.”
Page 2,3 Account of the Conewago Canal

“1. It is one mile in length, wanting a few perches. 2. It is everywhere 40 feet in width, at
bottom, and 4 feet deep, in some places more, when filled only within 20 inches of the top
of its banks or towing-path; all which is completely agreeable to the contract. 3. The locks
are indeed a grand work, constructed in the most masterly manner, of the soft; solid
materials, brick and hewn stone. The two locks at the lower end are 80 feet each in length,
and 12 feet in breadth or width, and in the lowed state of the river three feet fix inches in
depth, over the main fills of each lock gate.” Page 13 Account of the Conewago Canal

WILLIAM YOUNG, Bookseller, No. 52, Second Street, Corner of Chestnut Street,
PHILADELPHIA 1778 University of Pittsburgh Library DAR RM TC625 C7A1
http://www.neychip.com/York Haven54.pdf
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James Brindley 1795
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Creator Conewago Canal Company
Call number MssCol 624
Physical description 4.5 linear feet (26 boxes)
Preferred Citation = Conewago Canal Company records, Manuscripts and Archives Division, The New York Public Library
Repository  Manuscripts and Archives Division

Access tomaterials Request an in-person research appointment.

“The Conewago Canal Company was founded in 1792 by a group of seventeen
Pennsylvanian investors led by Robert Morris on the Susquehanna River at Conewago
Falls Pennsylvania. Other founders included William Bingham, Alexander James Dallas,
John Donaldman, Tench Francis, Henry Miller, Timothy Matlack, Samuel Meredith, and
William Smith. The proposal to build a canal stemmed from the realization that the growth
of commerce and industry and the opening of the western lands depended upon the
making of improvements in roads and inland navigation. The Conewago Canal was the
first venture of its kind to have the support of the State Legislature.”

https://www.nypl.org/sites/default/files/archivalcollections/pdf/conewagocanal.pdf

PENNA. ARCHIVES
R.G. 17 MP BK. 22
A. No. 11 [1827]

Scott Joshua 1858
https://www.loc.gov/resource/q38231.1a000763/?r=0.055,0.33,0.063,0.02.0
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HOPKINS’ CANAL AT CONEWAGO FALLS

by EARL ). HEYDINGER

Canal Currents Issue 057 Winter 1982 pages 4-5

That Pennsylvania’s first canal
operated at Conewago Falls on the
west shore of the Susquehanna in
York County is little known. (Even
our Canal Currents despite its long
York connections has not mentioned
this pioneer Pennsylvania canal
operation.) Its corporate life began
on April 10, 1793, and it survives
today as the York Haven hydrogen-
erating plant of Metropolitan Edi-
son. Its very early story is told by
its own history, An Account of the
Conewago-Canal, on the Susque-
hanna River. To which is prefixed
the Act for Incorporating the Com-
pany. (Phila., 1798). This is avail-
able to you through Interlibrary
Loan. Histories of York County tell
the complete story. Naturally, as a
canal, its use was greatly diminished
with the opening of the Main Line
along the opposite shore. But its
waterpower kept it “living.”

W

Recall that the Susquehanna
ports of Middletown (York Haven
traffic went to Baltimore), Fal-
mouth, and Marietta had the handi-
cap of wagoning all their receipts
over the high Conewago Hills. This
York Haven Canal passed keel boat
traffic only, since its 12 x 80" pair
of locks were too small for arks and
lumber rafts. With the Conewago
Canal’s 22 Nov. 1797 opening,
Columbia then prospered on keel
boat traffic because its wagon-link
had no hills to cross! Middletown
went “to pot” as the main Susque-
hanna port! Kryder's 1796 ark
taught all farmers how to get top
prices at Baltimore. (His passing at
Columbia was recognized and re-
ported by the Penna. Gazette of
Philadelphia.) Middletown went “to
ruin” and Philadelphia suffered a
great decline in wheat and flour
exports, losing heavily in the Sus-
quehanna traffic! Check statistics in
Livingood’s Phila-Baltimore Trade
Rivalry. Page 24 shows the decline
from $18,000,000 of 1796 to
$8,000,000 in two years! Baltimore
climbed from $9 to $12,000,000 in
the same time! The ark had really
wrecked Middletown and Philadel-
phia. “Baltimore (Liv p 38) was
immediately recognized as the natu-
ral seaport” for central Penna and
southern N.Y. The Conewago Canal
was privately financed by the same
Phila. group who “built” the Sus-
quehanna and Schuylkill, the Dela-

ware and Schuylkill Canals and the
Lancaster Turnpike. Robert Morris
was most prominent in all these
internal improvements.




THE CONEWAGO CANAL

he 770 WA of
TORK HAVEN,

1814.

An 1814 map of York Haven, showing the Conewago Canal. The map is the property of, and
is reproduced through the courtesy of, The Historical Society of York County.

by George Thomas

[This report is based on an 1802 “Letter to William
Penrose, Esq. Chairman of the Committee to
Whom was Referred the Petition of Thomas W.
Francis for a Toll on the Conewago Canal and
Locks on the River Susquehanna.” The letter was
discovered by the author in the microfilm files of

the Stanford University library.]

A letter from Thomas W. Francis to a commit-
tee of the Pennsylvania legislature, requesting per-
mission to charge a toll of two dollars per boat,
provides an interesting glimpse into the problems
that beset one of Pennsylvania’s earliest canals,
the Conewago Canal. Writing in 1802, Francis,
shareholder and treasurer of the Conewago Canal
Company, was faced with trying to recover a
$105,000 construction cost overrun. His plight will
be discussed following the presentation of some
background information.

Creating a Canal

In the colonial Pennsylvania of 1771, navigation
on the Susguehanna was difficult owing to the
presence of obstructions and fast moving water.
One particularly treacherous location was Con-
ewago Falls, a stretch of rocks and rapids 14 miles
north of Wrights Ferry (Columbia). All goods travei-
ing between Philadelphia and the northern settle-
ments along the Susquehanna had to be loaded
and unloaded north of the falls in the town of
Middletown. If goods could be diverted further
south to the Kings Highway, which stretched from
Lancaster to Philadelphia, trade would be
improved and shipping costs reduced.

On the 9th of March, 1771, by act of the General
Assembly, commissioners were appointed to clear

Page Four

obstructions from the Susquehanna north of
Wrights Ferry. Upon examination, however, the
job proved too challenging, and the funds ap-
propriated were spent on other improvements. Ef-
forts were renewed after the Revolution, and in
1789 a meeting was held with 26 leading Penn-
sylvanians, resulting in the appeintment of three
commissioners “'to view and explore the Sus-

nnichanna and Jluniata rivers and ascertain the
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expence, in their opinion, necessary for remov-
ing the different obstructions in said rivers."
Their report on January 30th, 1970 called Cone-
wago Falls "'the great obstruction and barr to the
wealth and population of our western country . .. ."
They suggested building a canal 306 perches
[rods] long by 33 feet wide, with a drop of
19 feet, rather than attempting to clear obstruc-
tions. This canal would be suitable for boats car-
rying 35 tons with a 20-inch displacement. (They
were probably referring to Durham boats, but have
overstated their load capacity.) Total cost was
estimated at £5,000 for the canal, plus £300 to
clear the ripples near the canal entrances.

About a year later, a general appropriation of
£5,250 was made by the legislature “For Sus-
guehanna, from Wrights Ferry to the mouth of
Swatara, . . ."" with no provision for land purchase
along the canal right-of-way. The commissioners
visualized a canal which followed the edge of the
river. On July 3, 1792, Governor Thomas Mifflin
contracted with 17 individuals, who formed “The
Conewago Canal Company."

If this canal initiative is put into perspective with
cther events that were occurring in the state. it ap-
pears that the granting of this contract was part
cof a larger plan to improve transportation. Three
months earlier, the Philadelphia and Lancaster
Turnpike was chartered to build the first hara-
surface road in the country. Also, a charter was
granted in 1792 to construct a navigable water-

way between the Schuylkill and Susquehanna
rivers. This undertaking was a short-lived
predecessor to the Union Canal, which completed
the connection in 1828.

Governor Mifflin inspected the finished Con-
ewago Canal on November 22, 1797, in the com-
pany of James Brindley, engineer and super-
intendent of the works, and other canal company
representatives. An appointee, charged with
assessing whether the contract had been properly
executed, described the weather as particularly
severe that day, with ice on the canal and snow
in the air. He continued with a description of the
ceremonies.

Preceding the official tour of the canal, a quick
trip was made by several rafts and a boat up and
down the canal to break up the ice. The first locks
raised the boat nine feet in eight minutes and
subsequently the second lock was passed in two-
and-one-half minutes. The difference in time was
attributed to unbroken ice in the first lock. The boat
was poled through the canal by five people in 17
minutes, three minutes to pass the regulating lock,
and five more minutes to make the river entrance
above the falls. The official party descended back
to the double locks, where the governor landed
to a gathering of 500 people. No less than three
times, the governor was salutec by the canal
workmen, who bored “their artillery out of the
hardest rocks" and fired salvos as he passed on
the canal. [Since the canal workmen did not have
a cannon or other means of making a loud noise
to commemorate the visit by the governor, they
bored holes in the rocks above the canal, loaded
them with powder, and detonated them.]

The following physical description of the canal
is included: It is just short of one mile long; It is
40 feet wide at the bottom; Itis four feet deep when
filled to within 20 inches of the top; The locks are
constructed mostly of brick and stone; Each of the
lower double locks is 80 feet long by 12 feet wide.

The appointee mentions the cost overrun in his
report and advises the governor to consider the
canal completed as contracted for £5.000.

The $100,000 Misunderstanding

The plight of Mr. Franc's and his associates may
now be considered. The financial problems of the
Conewago Canal began with the original survey
in 1789 by commissioners who had no experience
in canal construction. Their £5,000 proposal was
1o dig a sluice canal around the falls and let the
water run through the channel unchecked. The
only technical research they did was to ask local
boatmen, who assured them that a 19-foot drop
would present no problems. When work began
on the canal, this approach was considered im-
practical because the water velocity would have
undermined the canal wall and made navigation
nearly impossible. The maximum practical descent
according to authorities of the day was 500:1 in
the length to the drop, or 10.1 feet in 306 perches.
The Conewago Falls descent was nearly double
that limit. Applying hydraulic principles as recom-
mended by Mr. Francis (although he never did the
calculation) suggests the water velocity would be
24 miles per hour. Actual measurements by the
canal engineer, Mr. Brindiey, show a speed of
12-15 miles per hour, based on the timed descent
of a raft at five minutes and of large logs at four-
and-one-half minutes.

Considering the reverse case of taking a boat
against the current developec in the proposed
sluice canal, Mr. Francis proposed using the prin-
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Site of double locks looking southeast; this is currently a drainage ditch.

ciple of the inclined plane to calculate how many
180-pound men would be needed. The inclined
plane does not seem to be the correct analysis
for the situation, but again he offers two analogies
based on actual experience:

To bring an empty boat up the Schuylkill Falls,
which is three-and-one-half feet in 30 perches (495
feet), requires an hour's hard work by 12 to 15
men. The cost was $2-3 in drink, with no mention
of wages.

The few times a boat was brought up the Con-
ewago, 30-40 men were required for most of a day
and cost £5-6. The process required the men to
jump from rock to rock, pulling the boat. The ac-
tions must have been humorous to the local peo-
ple, since the men were referred to as
“blackbirds.’ Apparently, horses could not be
used because of the rocks and uneven shoreline.

With this justification, the canal company re-
jected the sluice canal concept, as well as one run-
ning farther inland which would have required ex-
tra digging. The only acceptable alternative was
to build a level canal with the total drop taken out
with locks. The company chose to build on the
west side of the river because it had more water
flow and fewer rocks. They agreed that "“digging
a canal on either side will be a great and expen-
sive work, probably far exceeding the sum allowed
by the public . . . ."

The final accounting of the canal expenses
follows:

Ground purchase and cutting $56,726
of canal

Locks and regulating gates 45,274

Miscellaneous 17,000
Total cost $119,000

Amount received from legislature — 14,000
Cost overrun $105,000

This concludes Mr. Francis's plea for more
money. It appears from the outset that the canal
company expected to overspend the allotted sum
of £5,250. The fact that construction continued
must have been due to the enthusiasm and/or
significant borrowing power of the shareholders.
Since this was one of the first canals in the coun-
try, investors were probably not wary of the cost
overruns that would plague subsequent canal proj-
ects. The amount of the overrun can be seen in
its true light when it is compared to the salary of
the lockkeeper that was set in the same report at
$200 per year

AMERICAN CANALS, NO. 80 - February 1992

The Outcome

Mr. Francis was only partially successful with his
petition. According to the History of Lancaster
County (1883), the legislature authorized a fee of
50 cents per boat for passing through the canal.
The company continued to operate the canal at
least up to 1814, building a flour mill and operating
a ferry next to the canal. The Conewago Canal

became less imnnrtant whan tha Qehewidlill wina
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connected to the Susquehanna at Middietown in
1828, but the last year of canal operation is
unknown. In 1886, the History of York County
reported a papermill was being constructed from
the excellent-quality bricks taken from the canal.

Currently, the site of the canal is occupied by
a park next to the Pennsylvania Power and Light
Company hydro-electric plant. Part of the original
canal right-of-way has been lost to railroad tracks
and to the water backed up by the power plant
dam, but some of the original bed can still be
traced. The location of the two lower locks is a ditch
used to direct water from a large drain pipe back
into the river.



https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Conewago Canal

Because of the state's underlying geology, the Susquehanna River and its tributaries
above Conewago Falls were more navigable than the lower river. Upstream, keelboats and
Durham boats could transport cargo on these streams, but the Susquehanna's last 50
miles (80 km) or so to the Chesapeake Bay were fast, shallow, and rocky. Until the
completion of the Conewago Canal, most boats stopped at Middletown, unloading cargoes
of lumber, wheat, and iron for shipment to Philadelphia over 100 miles (161 km) of poor
road. Middletown, on the east bank of the river, and York Haven on the west bank became
important flour milling centers because shipping barrels of flour in wagons from the
Susquehanna Valley to Philadelphia or Baltimore was less expensive than shipping unmill
loads of wheat. In 1791, the Pennsylvania legislature authorized funds to improve
navigation on the Susquehanna River above Columbia to enhance trade to and from
Philadelphia. Though privately funded, the Conewago Canal became part of these general
plans. Livingood, James Weston (1970). The Philadelphia-Baltimore Trade Rivalry, 1780—
1860. Philadelphia: Ayer Publishing. pp. 28-31.
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and suj the whole boat. S some feasible plan of tbnobotruc
two keels were nsed, Ov account of the tions. The Revolulicuary w
further astion imunediately, and l‘n msttor

was deferred. In the year 175, Thomas

https://archive.org/details/historyofyorkcou0Qingibs/page/n9/mode/2up
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Hulings, Bertram  Galbreath  and Samuel
Boyd were sppointed commissioners 1o ex-
plore the Susquebanns and Juniata Rivers.
On the 30th of January, 1700, they reported:
*The Conewngo Falls, about fourteen milos
above Wright's Foery, was the great obstrne

our westorn eountry,”  They nmd that &
eanal should be built around them. This

ition was enconrnged by mll enterpris-
int A, and the leg of Pennsyl-
vanin wassoon petitioned to furnish aid.

and the canal snbstantiully built. The bricks

usod nre still in an excellont state of proser-

vation, and are mow again being put to
practieal use by the papermill ?bnmy,

- which is erecting works thore, Thoy wero

It |

became an important subjoct of discussion |

among logislators,  On which side of the
river to construet the proposed einal was a
subject which esused considerable debate
The commissionors appointed to view the
obstractions recoramended that a eanul be
built one wile long, thirty-these feet wide
and nine feet deep, with a fall of nineteen
foot. They did not recommend locks to
raise the boats toa level with the hosd of the
falls  Gov. Thomas Mifflin, who was slected
in 1790, and was o grout advocate of further-
ing any enterprise that enconraged internn!
improvemont, ealled to his connsel some of
the most skillful civil engineors of the time.
They decided that nineteen fest fall in one
mile would make it impossible for a keel
boat o asvond it sgainst the rmpid enrrent.

State Aid Erecived and Canal Constructed,
On April 13,1791, the lezislature of Penn-
sy lvastio spproprinted £5,250 Lo the

e ' made from clay found in the vicinity, the
tion and bar to the wealth and population of

At tho hend of the eanal wero several keel | Frances was presidont, owned a large wor

oats, that had eome down from Middletown, | ehant mill, forry, and sundey baildings val.

By the lime the or returned fo the  ued at $30,000,

lower ond again, an andionco of ovor 600 | Tho further hisory of this important husi-
ness center will be found under the title of

mk had assembled, awaiting a speech
their bonored and  worthy ehief | York Maven, in tho echapter on Newborry
magistrate.  Gov. Mifllin was of Quakor | Township.

pits being #till visible
The cangl, when completed, was abont onpe  ancestry, and was a gontleman of fine litorary
wile Tong, and contained substantial locks. | attai ud of hand

It ‘was finslly completed in 1795 or 1706,
It was a great event to the interests of the
interior of the Stule, and becamo a groat cen-
ter of attraction.

Interesting  Events af the Opewing of the
Canal —Governor Miflin Present.—The sig-
niicaver of this i

oy

TIDE WATER ASD SUSQUENANSA CANAL,

Censes iehich led to its  Ovigin.—Tho
Poonsylvania Railrond from Philadolphis to
Columbia, and canal to the junction thero,
thenco by the Juniata to Hollidaysburg and
Portage road to Joknstows, west of the Alle-
ghany Mountaine, nod esnal to Pittsburgh,
constitutod what was, in 1831, known as the

g«nnor' of Penn.
¥ nguishod himsolf in
other capacities, as a civilian and a soldier
of rave distinetion. He addressed the de.

lnting them on the
then departod for the

y Al
He served nine years 1s
Tvanin, and bad disti

from the importance attached o iz
ita pletion and the ing of it. This
oceurred on the 220 of November, 1797.
Thomas Miflin, one of the projectors of it,
and who was still governor of the State, sud
» numbor of distinguished Bantenicived
on horseback at the foot of the falls on the
Laneastor County side. A largo conconrse
of people from York and the vieinity, had con-
grogated slong the canal. The commirsioners
and the Rev. Dr. Smith had already orossed
the river to the York County side. Some of
the ingenions workmen began to drill holes
in the adjoining rocks, which they filled with
powder.  The governor and his party came
aeross the rviver in tlat.boats, amid the sloet
and snow, fully dotormined, oven though the

wis  inel to fulfill  their

Snsquehauna River from Wright's rla'ry, to
the mouth of the Swatara”  Onpe bundred
and fifty pounds of {his sm were spent st
Chickie’s Falls, and £100 st Hadl s

intemtions.  Just as ho set foot on the York
County shary, there was one grand trinmphant
eheer from the gathered crowd, amd u lond

riflos.  On the 3d of July, 1792 a contract
was entered into by Gov. Miflin on the part
of the State of Pennsylvanis and o number of
prominent citi of the
of them from Philadelphis, as follows: Robert
Morris {the great finaucier of the Revolution ),
Willinm Smith, Walter Stewarl, Samuael More-
dith, John Steimmetz, Tench Fraucis, John
Nicholson, Samual Miles, Timothy Matlock,
David Rittenhoose, Sumuel Powell, Alexan-
det Jumes Dallas, Willinm Binglam, Henry
Miller, Abeam Witmer and Dr. Robert Har-
rix. Thowe gentlemen were appointed a
comtnittes to constriet a canal forty feet wide
and four feet deep around Covewago Falls.
Jamee Brindloy, their engincer, seems to
have estimated the entire cost of the cannl at
S20,000.  The State appropristed one half of
this amonnt.  The ecompany found, how-
over, that by the time it was loted
$102,000 wore exponded. It was well con
structed, the

P from cannon a8 i sigs
niticant salnte.  The dignified officor, who
hiad beots & general in the Bovolut

| and under whow some of the m[ngiﬁ m‘

b, most |

being excollontly done | firing of salutes from the adjoining

tude bhad beavely fought in the battle of
Brandywine, was thries weleome to agnin set
foot on the soil of York County. As he
pressed up and down the caual in o fat bost,
a number of salutes were fired in order to
enliven the octasion. The canal had two
locks st the Jower end, ench eighty feet
Jong and twelve feet wide. When the dis-
tingnishod guests arrived, they were placed
on flnt boats preparad for the oceasion, and
whon they enferad the chamber of the first
lock and the lower gate elosed bebind them,
they were astonished to find that their boats
ina fow minntos had risen nive feet. loe
had formed on the canal, and it had to be

*“Main Line," and as such is still maintained
in the system of internsd iwprovement of
Pennsylvania, with the exeoption of the aban-
donment of n part of the originul canal de-

igation. by

aolﬁﬁdu,hwﬂmlmilh Valley,s0on
appeared with a bost heavily fre with t of the works from Pittshurgh east
flowr, which ho safely landed tiveo days later | as far as Huntingdon, ou the Juniats, The
at the city of Baltimore. His success became | canal, from the junetion to Northumborland,
known, and the following ywar many others | thence by the North and West Branch to
did the same and wore handsomely puid for = Wilkesbarre and Willinmaport respectively,
their efforts, Muny landed at Columbia, and |~ is known ss the North and West Braneh
their merchandise from there conveyed to | Division of the system mentioned.  Thess
- Philadelphia.  Just what were the conditions | works were put under contraet in the order

of the venturo at first cannot now bo acen- gi«m.nurg'm 1520 and 1827, The main
line of canal was finished to congeel with the
Union Canal at Middletown, in 1830, and to
Columbin in 1831, the North and West
Branch a yoar or two later. Trude over the
line was prompbly commenced under t ans.
pices of several transportation companies,
conspienous which wore * D, Lesch & Co's
Transportation  Line,”  *Union Line,”
** Dongherty's Section Boat Line,” and in
due time severnl ofber lines, losides soveral
packet hout lines ruuning from Colambia in
connection with the railroad to and from
Philadelphia to Pittsburgh, thus making the
traveling and freight facilities over the main
line, complete at that time, and during the

o) two yoars to Northumberland,
over the North avd West Branch of the Sus

ng
safely through the falls of the river, By the
charter ineorporating the company it wis to
afford free navigation, and just bow the canal
company was to be remuseratod does not at
first woom clear, ospecially if the arks ware
sucosssful in passing the falls, aud disposing
produee teansported on them to any
desived market, Many thousands of dollars
wero ut fiest lost by the company, and they
ied to the legislature for relief. Event.
-ulflm. State reliof wis recoived, and a
that

amonot of toll eharged for each boat

the ennal.  From 1707

to 1854, the affairs were mannged by the ca.
nal company, ndrund Tdu A sueeoss, An
attempt was made by Jumes Hopkins, o = quebanun, to Wilkeshurro and Williamsport,
weulthy personage, doring this period, to = the two remotest points ou the Susqnehanng
build a canal around the fullson the opposite | at that time.  The packet lines were thas en
side of the viver, in which ventnrs he lost o = abled to supplant the “old sage eonch'
h“r:: fortnne, Tt was intended as an oppo- | lines, stopping st all the regular stations, and
wmition eanal to the one on the York Connty = eligible points for the accommodation of the
wide, but proved to be a dissstrous failore. | travoling public.  The lines wore cast, and
A flouring mill and other buildings were  * all aboard," and a blast of the bugle born,
orocted in the immediate vicinity of the canal = sot thow off to the noxt station, and thus it
on the York County side, by the company that ~ went ou to the eloso of navigation avery fall
controlled it. ‘This property, in 1705, was | Plauns for and Constriction of the New

valued at £1,280 currency, which valuation | Canal, —This route was soon diseoverad to
ineludod 150 seves of land,  In 18108 Phil- | be too Jong, tedions sud expensive, and 2
adelphia , of which Thomas Willi grant olamor wont forth for & canal from



CANALS.

Ome of the most notable events in the
Justory  of internal improvements in the
State of Penmsvlvania was the opening of o
navigable canal around the Conewnga
Falls, om the west side of the Susquehanna
River. a1 the place since the year 81y,

TURNPIKES, CANALS,

kpown as York Haven. Ir was the first
canal buile fn this stare, nnd so far as definite
records go, the lirst m the United States.
fts history antedates the history of York
Flaven many years, It was the mitiatory
step which maugurated & great system of
artilicial pavigation and internal improve-
ment in Pennsyivanm.

The original mode of tramsportation on
the Susquehanna, and on many other rivers,
was with the " dug outs.”  They were made
in imitation of the Indian canoe, amnd con-
sisted of o log, usually of pine. with a por-
tion of 1t dug out Hke a trough. The In-
dian traders wsed them 1o convey furs and
other products dows the stream.  The bat-
tedt. a sort of Aat hoat, was nsed next, and
wis considered of great value o early
settlers and traders along the Susquehanna

. But for river nayigation on a moce
Keel- extended scale, the ~keclbaats ™
Boats. were of great inipoctance in the
Eransportation of gow and proed-
ucts.  Thogsands of boshels of e oats,
corm. wheat and potatoes were brought
down the river in them, Thed obtamed
their name from the facr thar the lowess
piece of timber, named 2 keel. ran the whole
leagth of the boat. from the lower parr of
the stem to the stern post, and supported
the entire haat,  Sonmwtimes 1no keels woere
naed. O account of the rapids ar the
mounth of the Conewago creek, these boats
conld not pass down the nver farther than
Middletown, which untl 1707, was a great
port for them, It was ut the time of
the close of the Revolutionary war, m 1783,
possibly ecurlior, that the “ dug onts ™ were
succreded by the ™ keol e :

%y The for-
mer were o lnn,;n consalered adeguate to
the bYisiness, he latier were generally
built in the valuable wiwnled distrcts up the
Susquehanni and it branches, and floated
down the eurrent, hearnug inom five 10
thirty tons of produce.

Mydedletown at the mouth of the Swatara,
wits the lowest port of entry. Here the
prodduce was transferred 16 the shore and
transported overland by means of wagons,
to the enstern markets.  The cetuen trip of
these boats was more dificuis. They were
forced up the current with wt}-ﬂrs "and
contuined wanally o hghr ad of groceries,
bardware and other merchamlize. Boat-
wen worslhil start at the head of the boat and

“History of York County PA” Volume | George R Prowell 1907
https://archive.org/details/historyofyorkcou01prow/page/n411/mode/2up
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set their poles at the bottom of the niver,
and then walk down what was called “runs.™
thus forcmg the bost up the siveam as [(ast
as a man coald walk, Thousands of bush-
cls of wheat, corn ad potatoes were <om-
vered down the stream and unloaded at
Abkdletown. The husiness interests of the
1own became unportant
O aecount of the inerease of

Conewago the irafhic, some Loals  were

Falis. landed om the west side of the

Susquehanna above the Cone

wago Falle, a bharrer to further navigation
of Keelboats The groducts fraun these
boats were conveyed m wagons to the ciny
of Baltimare.  The town of Falmouth was
then fand out an the cast side of the rivor,
opposite the site of York Haven, by James
l‘lnpkms. Thomas Balex, James Keyy and
John Greer. Dut the expense of overland
transportation of goods fromn Middletssan,
Fahnouth snd the pott of entry on the York
County side of the river. was 100 great 1o
afford merchanis much profit an account of
competition fraan other cotroes,

Enterprising husiness moen then began to
devise plans by means of which the alstacles
1o navigaton #t Comewngzo Falls mzht be
avodsled. and a passage down the Susque-
hanna river to its moath he aceomplished
Beriram Galbireatl, & prominemt Land sur-
veyor, who lived 31 Bambridge. Lancaster
County, aml orber mtinential citizens, were
appointed by the state authorities a1 cotne
mittee 1o explore the river and report ne
feasitde plan «of avolding the obstruct .
The Revolutionary War grovented further
action immediately, and the matter was de-
ferredd.  In the vear 1780, Thomas Hulings,
Bertram Galliventl and Samuel Boyd were
:q-‘.um!nl COMIIis s aiers 10 cxplurc the
Susque w and Iunata vivers,  Om the
3ol of lanpars, 1700, they reparted !

“The Convwage Falls, about fourtecn
mides abote Wright's Forry the groat
obstroction and bar to the wealilh and pop-
ulation of our western comutry.”  They
urged that 4 canal should be built around
these falls or nifles.  This proposition wias
encoursged by all enterprising citizens who
were directly or indirectly interesed, and
the Jegisiature of Pennsylvanin was soon
petitioned 1o fumish aid. It became an im-
portant subject for discussion in the legisla-
ture. i which sule of the river o con-
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struet the proposed canal was a subject
which caused  considerable debate.  The
gotniissioners appointed te view the ob-
structions  recommended that a canal be
built one mile long, thirty-three feet wile
andd nine feer deep, with a fall of nineteen
feet. They did ot recommend locks 10
rabsee the hoats to a level with the head of
the falls.  Govervor Thomas Miflin, who
wias elected in 1700, and wis o great advos
<ite of furthering any enterprise that en-
vonraged internal improvement, called 1o
lis counsel some of the most skillinl civil
engineors of the time. " They decided that
wineteen feet fall in one mile would make it
mnpossible for o keelboat o ascend
against the rapid current,
O April 13 1701, the legislature of
State  Pennsylvanu  appropristed  3.230
Ald.  pounds " to mprove the Suosque-
hawua eiver from \Wright's Ferry 1o
the mouth of the Swatara”  One handred
ad fifty pounds of this sam were spent at
Chickie's Falls, and 100 pomuds at Halde-
man's rifffes.  On the 3rd of July, 1702 a
contract was entered into hy Governor Mii-
flin on the part of the State of Pennsylvama
and a4 nnmber of promment citizens of the
commonwerlth, most of them from Plala-
detphi, as follows:  Robert Maorrs (the
wreat financier of the Revolotion ), William
Smith, Walter Stewart, Samuel Meredith,
John Stemmetz, Tench Francis, John Nich-
olson, Samued  NMiles, Timathy  Matlock,
David Rittenhouse, Samuel Powell, Alex.
wniler e;um:- Dallas,  Wilhiam  Bingham,
Flenvy Miller, Abram Witmer aml Dy, Rol
ert Harris, These men were appointel a
committee to constract a canal forty feer
wide and four feet deep around Conewago
Falls,  James Heindley, their engineer, es-
thimated] the entire cost of the canal ar S20.
oo, The State appropeiated onehalf of
s amount,  The company foumd, how -
ever, that by the tinee it was completed in
7o the sum of Stozooo was expended
The canid was about one mile long, and
contiined Tocks.  This canal was of great
importance o Pennsyvivania, il became a
centre of attraction
The significance of this improve-
Canal  went was shown from the im-
Opened.  portance attached to celebrating
its completion.  This eccurred on
the 22nd of November: 17097, Thomas Mif-

i one of the projectors of it and who was
governor. and a number of hstinguished
attenlants armived on borsehack at the foot
of the falls on the Lancaster side,  They
came from Philadelphia, then the eapital of
the state. A large concourse of |u-n|:‘r from
Nork and viemity had congregated along
the canal. The canal commissioners amd
the Rev. Dee Soth had already orassed 1he
et 1o the York County side. Some of
the ingenions workmen began 1o deill holes
i the adjoining rocks, which they filled
with powder.  The governor aml hix party
came across the river i flat-boats, amid the
sheet and snow, fully  determiined, even
though the weather was inelement, ta fultil
their mtentions,  Jnst as he set foot on the
Nork County share. there was enthusiastie
cheering from the gathered erowd, and a
lond explosion from the improvised cannon,
#s a salute.  As the Governor passed up
and down the canal in a fat-haat, a number
of salutes were fired m order to enliven the
occasson. The canal had 1two locks at the
lower eml. each eighty jeet long and twelve
feet wide.” When the distingmshed guests
armived. they were placed on fat-boats pre-
pared for the occasion, and when they en-
tered the chamber of the first Tock, and the
lower gate closed behid them, they were
astomished to find thit their boats in a few
munutes had risen nine deet.  lee formed on
the canal, and 1 had 1o be broken with poles
to enable the boats 1o procead.  They
passed op the canal amid the cheers of the
maltande, and the firing of salutes from the
adjommg rocks. At the head of the canal
were several keel-boats, swhich came down
from Maddletown, By the time the Gove
ermor returmed to the Jower end again, an
andience of over 600 peaple Tid assembled,
awaiting a speech from him, He servod
tine vears as governor of Pennsylvania, and
Il distingumished himself as a civiban and
a soldier. He addressed the andience for
Balf an howr and then leit for Lancaster,
The canal was pow completed and
The opened for free navigation, A Ger-
First man by the mame of Krewdor, from
Ark. the Juniata valley, soon appearesd
with a boat heavily freighted with
Howr, which he safely landed three days
Jater at the oty of Baltimore,  His snceess
became known. and the iollow ing year many
others did the same and were well pail for

TURNPIKES, CAN

their efforts,  Boats fanded ar Colnmbia,
and the merchandise from there conveyed
to Philadelphin,  Expenenced pilots soon
alterward  sueceeded v guiding  large
“arks " safely throngh the falls of the river,
By the eharter incorparating the eanal com-

any it was to affond free navigation, and
I:nl how the canal company was to e re-
mmerated does not seem clear, espeeinlly i
the arks were successiul m passing the falls,
and dispoxing of the produce transported on
them to any desired market. Thousands of
dollars were at fiest lost by the company.
and they apphied to the legislatiee for relief.
Faentually some state reliel was received,
and a small amount of toll charged for each
boat that passed through the canal, From
1707 to 180, the affairs were managed by
the canal company, and proved quite a suc-
cess

An attempt was made by James Hopkins,
during this period, to build a canal around
the falls on the oppasite side of the river, in
which venture he lost a large fortune. It
was intended as an opposition canal to the
one on the York County side, but proved to
be # disastrons failure. A flouring mill and
other huildings were erected m the unme-
diate vicinity of the canzl on the York
County side, by the company that controfled
it This property, i 1707, was valwed ay
1,280 pounds curreney. which valuation in-
cluded 130 acres of land.



PA Conservation Heritage Project
https://paconservationheritage.org » stories » the-canal-er...
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The Canal Era in Pennsylvania

The year is 1797, and the very first canal in Pennsylvania, the Conewago Canal, is taking riverboats
around Conewago Falls on the Susquehanna River near York ...

g Yorkblog
https://yorkblog.com » yorkspast » first-working-canal-.. %

First Working Canal in Pennsylvania was in York Haven
Feb 16, 2015 — On November 22, 1797, the Conewago Canal Company opened a canal to navigate
the Conewago Falls. George Prowell's 1907 History of York County ...

ney  NeyChip
" hitp://www.neychip.com » YorkHaven
York Haven Borough History
See York's Past York Haven Paper Company. The Conewago Canal, enabled late 18th and early 19th
century river craft to safely bypass rapids at Conewago Falls.

@ The New York Public Library
https://www.nypl.org » archivalcollections > pdf = PDF
Guide to the Conewago Canal Company Records
Canal Carpany was founded in 1792 by a group of seventeen. Pennsylvanian investors led by Robert
Morris (1734-1806) on the Susque- hahanna River at Conewago ...
Missing: histery | Show results with: history

‘ Harrisburg Magazine
x https://harrisburgmagazine com > 2016 $

Did You Know? The Canal Zone

The Pennsylvania Canal System had its origins in 1797 when the Conewago Canal was created to carry
riverboats around the Conewago Falls on the Susquehanna ...

Missing: company | Show results with: company

c York Daily Record

https://Mww.ydr.com > york-town-square » 2006/07/24 &
Conewago Canal aided Susquehanna River navigation
Jul 24, 2006 — A canal .. is completed around the Conewago Falls in York Haven in 1797 The canal
provides boats with a slackwater pool so they could avoid ...
Missing: eempany | Show results with: company

W Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission (.gov)
https://iwww.phmc_state_pa.us > communities » documents :

Pennsylvania Canals | PHMC > Our Documentary Heritage

The canal era began in Pennsylvania in 1797 with the construction of the Conewago Canal that was
built below York Haven and enabled boats to circumvent the ...

ol National Canal Museum
https://canals.org > Learn :
The Canal Era - Easton
The canal era began in Pennsylvania in 1797 with the Conewago Canal, which

carried riverboats around Conewago Falls on the Susquehanna River near York
Haven.



Pennsyrvania Canar Sociery

2750 Hugh Moore Park Road
Easton, PA 18042-7120

February 1, 2025

78 John Glenn Drive
Phoenixville, PA 19460-1908
610-955-6436

Mr. Charles Stambaugh
North Eastern York
County History In Preservation

Dear Charles,

The Pennsylvania Canal Society encourages and supports your efforts to obtain approval
for and placement of a State Historical Marker at York Haven. The location of this canal, the
state’s first to be completed and one of the earliest in the country, is more than worthy of your
tremendous efforts to have a marker placed there.

The expansion of our knowledge and acknowledgement of our state’s history s as
fundamental as the study of a person’s family ancestry. The Society is encouraged by the efforts
of individuals and organizations to support the spread of this knowledge and incredible heritage.

One of our founders and a big proponent of York County’s canal history was William H,
Shank, P.E. In his book entitled “The Amazing Pennsylvania Canals,” he said “in 1797 the
Conewago Canal, paralleling the Susquehanna River on its west bank below York Haven and
designed to enable boats to avoid the rocks and rapids of Conewago Falls, had been built and
declared operable by the state. Its purpose was to link southbound river traffic safely with
Columbia, to make connection with the Philadelphia-Lancaster Turnpike.” The Conewago Canal
and the advancement of Columbia and the Susquehanna River waterway in general would mold
and shape the development of transportation in our state, and it would be a strong influence on
the development and route of the Main Line of Public Works between Philadelphia and
Pittsburgh, as well as spawning transportation improvements throughout the state.

Sincerely yours,

/waf’e%m

Douglas R. Logan, President

Pransvivania Canar Sociery



